
Abstract: In his book titled “Naim Efendi’nin Hatıratı ve Talat Paşa
Telgrafları” (En. “The Memoirs of Naim Efendi and Talat Pasha
Telegrams”), Taner Akçam argues that the telegrams and documents that
were published 96 years ago by Aram Andonian and which are attributed
to several high-ranking Ottoman officials are in fact real and authentic.
Akçam’s main argument is based on the claim that the book “Ermenilerce
Talat Paşa’ya Atfedilen Telgrafların Gerçek Yüzü” (En: “The Talat Pasha
Telegrams: Historical Fact or Armenian Fiction?”) by Şinasi Orel and
Süreyya Yuca that puts forward concrete arguments on the forged nature
of the above-mentioned documents, is full of errors and that the authors’
accusations with regard to the documents are unjustified. However,
throughout his book, when presenting and summarizing the findings of
Orel and Yuca in their studies about Andonian’s documents, Akçam
distorts these findings, and attributes to Orel and Yuca false assertions
that were never made by them. Then, Akçam attempts to refute these
assertions that he claims were made by Orel and Yuca, and based on this,
he concludes that the studies by Orel and Yuca are unreliable and full of
mistakes. With such manipulations, he asserts that claims about the forged
nature of Andonian’s documents are claims that can be “easily refuted”.
Although it is possible that readers, who have no prior knowledge on the
issue and who learn about the claims put forth on the forged nature of
these documents only from erroneous representations by Akçam, might be
influenced by Akçam’s allegations, those who personally read Orel’s and
Akçam’s work will see that many of Akçam’s assertions are invalid.
Analyzing these subjects, this article aims to provide readers with a more
balanced perspective.
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Öz: Taner Akçam, “Naim Efendi’nin Hatıratı ve Talat Paşa Telgrafları”
kitabında bundan 96 yıl önce Aram Andonyan tarafında yayınlanmış olan ve
bir dizi üst düzey Osmanlı memuruna atfedilen telgraf ve belgelerin esasen
gerçek ve sahih olduğu tezini işlemektedir. Akçam’ın temel tezi 1983 yılında
Şinasi Orel ve Süreyya Yuca tarafından yayınlanan ve bu belgelerin sahte
olduğu yönünde ciddi tezler öne süren “Ermenilerce Talat Paşa’ya atfedilen
Telgrafların Gerçek Yüzü” başlıklı çalışmanın hatalarla dolu olduğu ve
belgelere yönelttikleri ithamların esasen haksız oldukları üzerine kurulmuştur.
Akçam kitabı boyunca Orel ve Yuca’nın Andonyan belgelerini inceleyen
çalışmalarındaki bulgularını sunarken ve özetlerken bunları çarpıtmakta ve
Orel ve Yuca’nın hiç ileri sürmedikleri iddiaları kendilerine atfetmektedir.
Daha sonra da Orel ve Yuca tarafından iddia edildiğini öne sürdüğü bu yanlış
iddiaları çürütmeye kalkmakta ve bundan hareketle de Orel ve Yuca’nın
çalışmalarının güvenilmez ve yanlışlarla dolu olduğu sonucuna varmaktadır.
Bu tür manipülasyonlarla Andonyan belgelerinin sahte olduğu yönündeki
iddiaların “kolaylıkla çürütülebilecek” iddialar olduğunu iddia etmektedir.
Konuya ilişkin ön bilgileri olmayan ve belgelerin sahteliği yönünde ortaya
konan iddiaları sadece Akçam’ın yanlış aktarmalarından öğrenen okurların
Akçam’ın iddialarından etkilenmesi mümkünse de; Orel ve Yuca’nın
çalışmasını bizzat okuyanlar Akçam’ın birçok iddiasının geçersiz olduğunu
görecektir. Bu makale bu hususları inceleyerek okuyucuya daha dengeli bir
bakış sunmayı hedeflemektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Şinasi Orel, Süreyya Yuca, Taner Akçam, Naim Efendi,
Aram Andonyan, sahte belgeler

130 Review of Armenian Studies
No. 34, 2016



An Assessment on Aram Andonian, Naim Efendi and Talat Pasha Telegrams

Introduction

In his book titled Naim Efendi’nin Hatıratı ve Talat Paşa Telgrafları (En. The
Memoirs of Naim Efendi and Talat Pasha Telegrams) (İletişim Yayınları, 2016),
Taner Akçam argues that the telegrams and documents that were published 96
years ago by Aram Andonian and which are attributed to several high-ranking
Ottoman officials, particularly Minister of the Interior (Tr. Dâhiliye Nazırı)
Talat Pasha, are in fact real and authentic. Akçam’s main argument is based on
the claim that the book Ermenilerce Talat Paşa’ya Atfedilen Telgrafların
Gerçek Yüzü (En. The Talat Pasha Telegrams: Historical Fact or Armenian
Fiction?) by Şinasi Orel and Süreyya Yuca, which was published in 1983 and
puts forward concrete arguments on the forged nature of the above-mentioned
documents, is full of errors and that their accusations with regard to the
documents are unjustified.

According to Akçam, contrary to Orel’s and Yuca’s claims, there was an
Ottoman official by the name of Naim Efendi, it was him who provided
Andonian with the documents, and the memoirs published by Andonian was
personally written by Naim Efendi. Accordingly, Akçam claims that an official
by the name of Naim Efendi is spoken of in three documents that he claims to
be Ottoman archival documents. Furthermore, Akçam publishes in his book
memoirs that he found in the personal papers of Krikor Guerguerian and which
he claims to have been written by Naim Efendi. According to Akçam, Krikor
Guerguerian found these memoirs in the Nubarian Library located in Paris.

At this juncture, let us state that there is no evidence (name, signature, initials,
date etc.) indicating that these memoirs were actually written by Naim Efendi.
Furthermore, even if the memoirs were in fact written by Naim Efendi, there
is no information on whether changes were made on the text or whether the
text was subsequently edited by someone or some people. In objective sources
for which there is no dispute, there are no samples of the handwriting of the
so-called Naim Efendi, and therefore, there is no possibility to compare them
with the handwriting in the published memoirs. Also, the text of the supposed
memoirs does not resemble the texts of classically what we know as
“memoirs”. The said memoirs do not provide a narration of Naim Efendi’s role
during the events, his dialogues with others, and the chronology of events. It
provides texts that is alleged to be official correspondences and includes
occasional commentaries on these correspondences. The aforementioned
events are presented in a convoluted manner and the text does not follow a
chronological narration. For instance, telegrams dated September 1915 are
provided following telegrams dated January 1916, and this continues to be the
case throughout the text of the memoirs. Again, a telegram dated February
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1 Şinasi Orel ve Süreyya Yuca, Ermenilerce Talat Paşa’ya Atfedilen Telgrafların Gerçek Yüzü, (Ankara:
Türk Tarih Kurumu, 1983), p. 7.

2 Orel ve Yuca, Talat Paşa’ya Atfedilen Telgrafların Gerçek Yüzü…, p. 8.

1917 is followed by other telegrams dated 1915 and 1916. Moreover,
throughout the text, there is no indication on what Naim Efendi’s duty was and
where he served. In this respect, as mentioned above, the text does not resemble
texts of standard memoirs, and gives the impression that it was written per
order.

The text published by Akçam is also glaringly different from the text of the
memoirs published by Andonian in 1920. For instance, while the text published
by Andonian contains statements about the places where and position in which
Naim Efendi served, no such statements are contained in the text published by
Akçam. Thus, the first suspicion that comes to mind is that the text might have
been changed by Andonian for his self-interests (and by the Armenian Bureau
in London and the Armenian National Delegations in Paris who made changes
on the text as mentioned by Andonian in one of his letters). However, Akçam,
who is completely convinced of the authenticity Andonian’s narrative and his
published documents, does not consider and discuss this possibility. Akçam,
who puts Andonian on a pedestal and insists on the authenticity of Andonian’s
narrative, explains this situation with the assumption that there must be another
sample of the memoirs other than the ones published by Andonian. In other
words, according to Akçam, another text exists besides the memoirs published
by him; it was this text that was published by Andonian, and this is the reason
why there are two different texts. However, Akçam is unable to provide any
evidence or indication supporting this possibility. As a matter of fact, it is
actually this approach by Akçam that constitutes the book’s main problem. In
fact, in cases where there is no evidence to prove the authenticity of these
documents, Akçam tries to dispel inconsistencies and suspicions by making an
assumption on top of another assumption.

It must be noted that Andonian’s explanations and comments on different dates
about same events and people contradict with each other, and therefore it is
quite problematic to accept Andonian’s statements as fact in terms of
historiography. For instance, Andonian depicted the so-called Naim Efendi as
a kind-hearted and charitable person, and wrote that Naim Efendi, despite his
poor financial situation, provided him with these documents without expecting
anything in return simply to ease his own conscience.1 However, in a letter he
wrote in 1937, he describes Naim Efendi as “an alcoholic and gambler” and
“an entirely dissolute creature”, and states that the documents were acquired
from Naim Efendi in return for money.2

132 Review of Armenian Studies
No. 34, 2016



An Assessment on Aram Andonian, Naim Efendi and Talat Pasha Telegrams

3 Guenter Lewy, The Armenian Massacres in Ottoman Turkey: A Disputed Genocide (Salt Lake City:
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4 Orel ve Yuca, Talat Paşa’ya Atfedilen Telgrafların Gerçek Yüzü…, p. 19.

5 Lewy, A Disputed Genocide, p. 49.

Similarly, Andonian, in his letter dated 1937, claims that the authenticity of
the documents he published were confirmed by the German Court in Berlin in
1921 during the trial of Soghomon Tehlirian who had assassinated Talat Pasha.
However, when the proceedings of the court are checked, it can be seen that
this is not the case. According to the court proceedings, despite Tehlirian’s
attorney’s request to submit five documents from Andonian to the court, it is
seen that he dropped his request following German prosecutor’s objections.
According to the prosecutor, it was not for the court to decide whether Talat
Pasha was guilty or not, and such determination necessitated a historical
research. This effort necessitated the examination of materials different from
those that were present. According to the prosecutor, the fact that the accused
Tehlirian had been convinced of Talat Pasha’s guilt was sufficient in terms of
revealing Tehlirian’s intention to murder him. In the face of these objections,
Tehlirian’s attorney Adolf von Gordon abandoned the request to submit the
documents to the court.3 Furthermore, during the trial in Berlin, the prosecutor
had a distanced and reserved approach towards these documents, and had taken
into consideration the possibility that they could be forged: 

The use of the forged documents cannot also lead me into error… I am
familiar with the history of how, in the chaos of the revolution, we came
to possess documents bearing the signatures of high ranking individuals,
and how it was subsequently proved that they were forged.4

At this juncture, it should be stated that these comments by the prosecutor were
legitimate observations. Indeed, at the end of the First World War, several
groups, including foreign intelligence services, ambitiously embarked on a
quest to find documents in order to accuse and try the Union and Progress
Government. As mentioned by a British intelligence officer, this state of affairs
had created “a very large market” of salable documents and had resulted in
the “regular production of forgeries for the purposes of sale.”5

Ultimately, the documents were not in any way verified by the Court.

It could be concluded from these examples that Aram Andonian did not always
tell the truth. Therefore, it would be fitting for serious historians to approach
Andonian’s words with suspicion and caution. The direct acceptance of
Andonian’s allegations without making any verification is problematic in terms

133Review of Armenian Studies
No. 34, 2016



Ömer Engin Lütem

of historical methodology. However, as it can be seen, Akçam, in his book,
accepts the claims of the Naim-Andonian narrative without any questions and
forms his arguments based on a set of assumptions.

According to Akçam, Orel and Yuca are also wrong in claiming that the cipher
telegrams published by Andonian did not match with the ciphering technique
and number groups used by the Ottoman Ministry of the Interior, and that
therefore these telegrams should be false. Additionally, Akçam asserts that the
objections by Orel and Yuca about the type of paper used in Andonian’s
documents are completely groundless. Giving several examples about these

objections, Akçam concludes that the ciphered
telegrams published by Andonian are
“congruent with the cipher telegrams in the
Ottoman Archive and that there is no
discrepancy among them, and that therefore
these could be original documents.”

Following these examples, Akçam claims that
several incidents and persons mentioned in the
memoirs of the so-called Naim Efendi and in
documents published by Andonian can be also
encountered in Ottoman archival  documents,
and thus concludes that these documents are
authentic. 

Akçam’s claims will be analyzed in detail
below. However, there is an important issue

that must mentioned before reviewing Akçam’s book. Throughout his book,
when presenting and summarizing the findings of Orel and Yuca in their studies
about Andonian’s documents, Akçam distorts these findings, and attributes to
Orel and Yuca false assertions that were never made by them. Then, he attempts
to refute these assertions that he claims were made by Orel and Yuca, and based
on this, he concludes that the study by Orel and Yuca are unreliable and full of
mistakes. With such manipulations, he asserts that claims about the forged
nature of Andonian’s documents are claims that can be “easily refuted”.

Although it is possible that readers who have no prior knowledge on the issue
and who learn about the claims put forth on the forged nature of these
documents only from erroneous representations by Akçam might be impressed
by Akçam’s allegations, those who personally read Orel’s and Akçam’s work
will see that many of Akçam’s assertions are invalid. Analyzing these subjects,
this article aims to provide readers with a more balance perspective.
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The Existence of Naim Bey 

Akçam, at the very beginning of his book, refers to arguments about whether
the documents published by Aram Andonian are authentic and whether Naim
Bey who is claimed to have provided these documents to Andonian was a real
person. According to Akçam, the claims by Şinasi Oral and Süreyya Yuca may
be summarized as follows:

The authors [Orel and Yuca] base their claims on three important
arguments: 1) there was no Ottoman official by the name of Naim
Efendi, 2) There cannot be a memoir by non-existent person, thus, there
are no such memoirs, 3) The documents claimed to belong to Talat
Pasha are distorted, fake documents.6

The obvious problem here is the presentation of the arguments of Orel and
Yuca in an extremely inaccurate and shallow manner. First of all, Oral and
Yuca do not in any way bring forward a claim that “there was no Ottoman
official by the name of Naim Efendi.” According to Orel and Yuca, there might
be different possibilities on this subject, but that, given the limited knowledge
at hand, it is not possible to arrive at a definitive judgement. In the relevant
chapter of their book, Orel and Yuca discuss the matter in the following way:

…it can be said that there are three possibilities regarding Naim Bey:

a) Naim Bey is a fictitious person.

b) Naim Bey is an assumed name.

c) Naim Bey is an actual person.

In these circumstances, it seems impossible to make a definite judgement
on whether Naim Bey was an actual person or not. The only point which
can be made with certainty is that if Naim Bey actually existed, he was
undoubtedly an unimportant official. Indeed, Andonian confirms this in
his letter of 26 July 1937, where he writes: ‘Naim Bey was an entirely
insignificant official…’7 [underlines have been added]

As it can be seen above, Oral and Yuca clearly state that in the light of all this
information, it is not possible to arrive at a definitive judgement on the subject.
However, if an official by the name of Naim Bey indeed existed, they reach
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the conviction that he was a low ranking official who would not have had
access to these secret documents.

After distorting the arguments of Orel and Yuca, Akçam then proceeds to
invalidate the claims he attributed to them. By referring to three different
documents (which he presents as “Ottoman Documents”) that mention an
official by the name of Naim Bey, Akçam tries to arrive at the conclusion that
one of the basic arguments of Oral and Yuca is incorrect.

It is quite problematic to present these three documents as “Ottoman
Documents”, since one of these documents is among the documents published
by Aram Andonian -the authenticity of which is under doubt. The other two
documents referenced by Akçam are two pieces of Naim-Andonian documents
that are part of the Andonian Collection contained in the Nubarian Library of
Paris. These are not Ottoman archival documents. It is quite apparent from the
facsimiles of these documents that Akçam provides in page 52 of his book,
that the signature which allegedly belongs to the Governor (Tr. Vali) of Aleppo
Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey is the exact same as the fake signature attributed to
Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey in the documents published by Andonian. Since
signature issue will be further elaborated below, it will be sufficient to briefly
mention at this point. The said fake signatures are quite different from the
authentic signature of Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey contained in the Ottoman
archival  documents. Thus, Akçam makes use of one batch of Naim-Andonian
documents for substantiating another batch of Naim-Andonian documents, and
presents these documents as “Ottoman Documents”.

Another source employed by Akçam to prove that Naim Bey was a real person
is a document -in volume 7 of the collection published by the ATASE
Department of the General Staff (Tr. Genel Kurmay ATASE Dairesi Başkanlığı)
in the year 2007 under the title of Armenian Activities According to Archive
Documents (Tr. Arşiv Belgeleriyle Ermeni Faaliyetleri)- that makes reference
to an official by the name of Naim Efendi. In the document collection in
question, it can be seen that the testimony of a former dispatch officer named
Naim Effendi was taken for the corruption that was taking place in the region
and that he was made to sign his testimony. 

In the document in question, the official named Naim Effendi is described as
follows: “This is the testimony of Naim Efendi, son of Hüseyin Nuri, married,
26 years old, from Silifke, Former Meskene [Maskanah] Dispatch Officer,
currently municipal grain warehouse officer [Tr. hububat ambar memuru]. (14-
15 November 1916). 8
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Aram Andonian mentions in his book that the individual whom he introduces
as Naim Bey could have been present at Meskene. For this reason, there is the
possibility that the Naim Efendi in the document that has been published by
ATESE could be this person. However, as Orel and Yuca touch upon, serious
question marks exist as to how an individual who was a civil servant in a small
district (Tr. kaza) like Meskene and who had been dismissed shortly after from
his duty could have gotten his hands on written top secret communications
between the Minister of the Interior and the Governor.9

According to Akçam, Naim Efendi served as the head clerk of the Aleppo
Dispatch Director General (Tr. Sevkiyat Genel Müdürü) Abdülahad Nuri Bey,
and it was through this position that he might have obtained the documents.
However, besides the narrative of Naim-Andonian, there is no other evidence
in our hand regarding Naim Efendi having served in this position. The only
source about this is the sentence attributed Andonian to Naim Efendi: “I have
been appointed to the head clerk position of Abdülhalad Nuri Bey”, allegedly
uttered by Naim Efendi after he came to Aleppo. Apart from the narrative of
Naim-Andonian, there has not yet been any findings to verify this sentence.
The memoirs text published by Akçam also does not contain any statement or
information in this direction.10

Serious problems arise even if we assume that the Naim-Adonian narrative is
accurate, since according to the document published by ATESE, as of
November 1916, the individual named Naim Efendi’s duty was that of a
municipal grain warehouse officer. The explanation based on this assumption
would have made sense to a certain extent if the documents published in the
Naim Efendi collection covered events only before this date. However, the
Naim-Andonian documents and the Naim Efendi Memoirs correspondences
stretch until February 1917. The critical question about the individual named
Naim Efendi is how, as a Municipal Grain Warehouse Officer, could he have
obtained the alleged top secret communication between the Governor and the
Minister of the Interior? This question becomes even more critical when one
considers that Naim Efendi’s testimony on allegations of corruption was taken
during the dates in question. Starting from November 1916, Naim Efendi
served in a position in which, unequivocally, he could not have reached the
said correspondences. Also, due to the allegations of corruption, he must be
viewed as someone whose statements was quite difficult to be believed in. We
must accept that, under normal circumstances, it would not be expected for
such an official to have access to the said correspondences. However, Akçam,
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11 Akçam, Naim Efendinin Hatıratı ve Talat Paşa Telgrafları…, p. 70.

based on the narrative of Naim-Andonian and making assumption upon
assumption without relying on any objective finding, accepts it as fact that
Naim Efendi had access to these documents during aforementioned dates and
that his memoirs are authentic.

As a result, first of all, Akçam wrongly presented here Orel and Yuca’s
arguments and attributed claims to Orel and Yuca that were not put forth by
them. Afterwards, by mentioning about the existence of an official named

“Naim Efendi” in Ottoman archive documents,
Akçam attempted to refute false claims never
put forth by Orel and Yuca. In this way, by way
of deception, Akçam arrived to the conclusion
that the conclusions of Orel and Yuca are
wrong. When the books of Orel and Yuca are
examined, these allegations (which may affect
readers who do not know the subject matter) are
rather trivial and insignificant. In addition to
these issues, Akçam, by accepting all the
information given by Andonian about the
official named Naim Efendi as being correct,
assumes that the official named Naim Efendi
was in a position that enabled him to reach all
relevant information. Given the above-
mentioned problems, it becomes apparent that
these assumptions of Akçam are based on very
weak premises.

Ciphering Techniques

A significant part of Akçam’s book is devoted to the ciphered telegrams used
by the Ottoman Minister of the Interior. In their books, Orel and Yuca argued
that the number groups used for ciphering in Naim-Andonian telegrams did
not conform to the number groups used in the telegrams of the Ottoman
Archives, and that these number groups were constantly changed at certain
time intervals for security reasons. In the relevant part of his book Akçam,
contrary to the claims of Orel and Yuca, claims that the ciphers formed with
binary, ternary, quaternary, and quinary number groups were used at the same
time and in a mixed way throughout the war. Akçam, for Orel and Yuca’s
claims, arrives at the conclusion that “these arguments are completely wrong
and do not have any material basis”.11
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On this subject, Akçam provides reference to a number of archive documents,
and afterwards gives place in his book to facsimiles of some of these
documents. Orel and Yuca claimed that in the documents they found in their
research, the two, four, and five digit numbers were changeably used at
different times during the war. In this respect, the telegrams using three digit
numbers found by Akçam is new information. 

As it is known, in the book of Aram Andonian, the documents he published
and provided facsimiles for use two and three digit ciphers. Based on the
existence of two and three digit numbers amongst the documents used by him,
Akçam arrives at the conclusion that the documents published by Andonian
and the Ottoman Archive documents are in full harmony and that there is no
discrepancy between them.12

Despite this new piece of information provided by Akçam, there is an important
issue that needs to be taken into consideration here. Documents utilized and
the facsimiles of which have been published by Orel and Yuca are composed
of telegrams sent from the center to the provinces (Tr. vilayetler). However,
all documents referenced by Akçam in his book (he uses the facsimiles of some
of them as well) were sent from the provinces and various commissions in the
provinces to the center, thus to the Ministry of the Interior.13 This situation will
only gain clarity if all the numbers used in ciphered telegrams to the Aleppo
Province from the Ministry of the Interior are analyzed in their entirety.
Furthermore, as can be understood from the filing numbers in the archives, the
telegrams sent from the provinces to the Center and used in Akçam’s book had
not yet been classified at the time of Orel and Yuca’s work, and were
documents that were classified and made available to the readers later on. That
is to say, during the time in which Orel and Yuca conducted their research, they
might not have had the opportunity to examine these documents. As such, this
issue should not be overlooked when criticizing Orel and Yuca’s work.

Besides these, the only source of suspicion about the falsity of the ciphered
telegrams contained in Naim-Andonian documents is not just the difference
between the number groups used in the ciphered telegrams in the Ottoman
archives and those used in Naim-Andonian telegrams. In Naim-Andonian
documents, in a quite strange manner, “binary” and “ternary” number groups
are used in the same document. For example, although the telegram dated 29
September 1915 attributed by Andonian to Minister of the Interior Talat Bey
was written with cipher composed of three digit numbers, two digit numbers
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exist in the first, fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh lines of the telegram.14

Likewise, the telegram dated 26 December 1915 that is attributed to Abdülahad
Nuri Bey ciphered with two digit numbers contains three digit numbers in the
first, eleventh, fourteenth lines.15 Similarly, the telegram dated 20 March 1916
attributed again to Talat Bey, although consisting of three digit numbers,
contains two digit numbers in its sixth line.16

The usage of mixed number groups necessitates two separate cipher keys for
the deciphering of a telegram. Yet, as Orel and Yuca underlines, the opening
of such a document is not possible due to ciphering technique. In none of the
authentic telegrams for which Akçam gives examples (he supplies the
facsimiles of some of them) in his book based on the Ottoman Archive is there
a similar case, meaning the mixed usage of different number groups in the
same text. Akçam ignores this evident and striking difference between the
authentic documents in the Ottoman Archive and the Naim-Andonian
documents, argues that there is no contradiction and difference between them,
and claims that Naim-Andonian documents could be authentic. Interestingly,
there are simply no examples of number groups with different amount of digits
being used within the same text in the Ottoman Archive documents the
facsimiles of which were provided by none other than Akçam in his book. It is
thus revealed that there is a serious difference between the Naim-Andonian
Documents and the Ottoman Archive documents.

Lined Paper Issue 

According to Akçam, one of the assertions as to the falsity of Naim-Andonyan
documents is “related to the papers that the documents were written on. Orel
and Yuca presents the fact that one of the documents was written on a lined
paper as the evidence of its falsity.”17 According to Akçam, this is a quite
nonsensical and bizarre situation:

Authors’ judgements like lined papers “cannot be expected to have been
available in Ottoman state offices” and their utilization of this
judgement as the proof of the falsity of a document is inapprehensible.
In the period that we are dealing with, lined papers were used by the
Ottoman bureaucracy.18
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Following this, Akçam mentions that lined papers were used quite often in the
Ottoman Archives and even gives quotations from some archive documents.
After all these arguments, Akçam arrives at the following ostentatious
conclusion:

As it can be seen, Orel and Yuca’s argument on the falsity of one
document of Naim Bey for being written on lined paper is completely
false. The rule in ciphered correspondence was not the use of plain
paper, but the use of lined paper. The fact that the document that Naim
Efendi gave is written on lined paper is not a proof for its falsity, on the
contrary, it is a proof of its authenticity.
What I would like to add as the final note
to this section is that the twelve points
that Orel and Yuca put forward to prove
the falsity of Naim Efendi’s documents,
most of which are the lined paper
argument type, are arguments that are
easy to disprove.19

However, Akçam here distorts another
important objection of Orel and Yuca against
the claimed authenticity of Naim-Andonian
documents by again resorting to a trickery. In
their books, Orel and Yuca in no way claim that
“one telegram having been written on lined
paper” is “the proof of its falsity”. As shall be
demonstrated in more detail below, Orel and
Yuca’s main objection is based on the fact that
this document was written on a “double lined
paper” that “bears no official inscription”.   

Orel and Yuca raise no objection to the standardly used single lined papers.
When the documents used in Orel and Yuca’s book (they also give place to
these documents’ facsimiles) are examined, Akçam’s assertion turns out be
absurd, placing Akçam in a comical position. This is so because, it is clearly
apparent that the ciphered telegrams that Orel and Yuca took from the archive
(and produced exact photos of) are written on single lined papers.   

In line with this, telegrams dated 26 August 1915 and 11 December 1915 that
were sent by the Minister of the Interior Talat to certain lieutenant
governorships (Tr. mutasarrıflık) that were published by Orel and Yuca in their
books should be viewed:
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Document 1

The copy of the ciphered telegram which was written on official “single lined”
paper dated 26 August 1915 that was published by Şinasi Orel and Süreyya
Yuca in page 77 in their book. This telegram was sent by Minister of the
Interior Talat Bey to Lieutenant Governorship of Çanakkale.
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Document 2

The copy of the ciphered telegram which was written on official “single lined”
paper dated 11 December 1915 that was published by Şinasi Orel and Süreyya
Yuca in page 78 in their book. This telegram was sent by Minister of the
Interior Talat Bey to Lieutenant Governorship of Karahisar-ı Sahip (Afyon).

As it can be seen in authentic telegrams that are replicated above, Orel and
Yuca themselves published documents containing telegrams that were written
on single lined papers. The objection of Orel and Yuca on this issue is not about
the papers being single lined. The objection of Orel and Yuca is as follows:  

Among the “documents”, the one numbered 76 was written on double
lined paper that contains no official sign. It cannot be expected that a
paper that rather looks like the papers used in writing (calligraphy)
classes in French schools to be present in Ottoman bureaus as official
papers.20

First of all, the objection of the authors is to the fact that the paper is “double
lined”, and more importantly, to the paper’s “lack of any official sign” in
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contrast to Ottoman Archive documents. Akçam completely ignores the
objection to the paper published within Naim-Andonian documents due to its
lack of any official sign and makes no comment on this point. In addition, by
distorting Orel and Yuca’s objection to “double lined paper”, Akçam argues
that they, instead, claimed that “lined paper” was not used by the Ottoman
bureaucracy. Only by distorting the arguments of Orel and Yuca is Akçam able
to arrive at the conclusion that their arguments are “inapprehensible” and
“completely false.” Not only that, Akçam further states that Orel and Yuca’s
arguments as to the falsity of the documents are all lies and wrong, and that
they can be easily disproved. 

However, as can be seen in the copies of the telegrams presented above, Orel
and Yuca do not object to the single lined papers, and even published
documents written on single lined papers. Akçam here again first distorts Orel
and Yuca’s arguments, then attempts to disprove the false arguments that were
not advanced by Orel and Yuca. Within such confusion, Akçam overlooks and
tries to hide away Orel and Yuca’s objections about the papers being “double
lined” and about the absence of official inscriptions on these papers unlike
authentic Ottoman Archive documents. 

Telegram Numbers

In the work that they published in 1983, Orel and Yuca drew attention to the
fact that the telegrams amongst the Naim-Andonian documents are different
from the Ottoman Archive documents in terms of filing numbers as well.
According to Orel and Yuca, there is absolutely no connection between the
filing numbers used for the Naim-Andonian documents and the filing numbers
of the authentic telegrams (contained in the Ottoman Archive) that were sent
in the same date, and the filing numbers that are used in the Naim-Andonian
documents contain great discrepancies. Furthermore, no record exists for the
Naim-Andonian documents in the incoming-outgoing documents log of the
Aleppo Province. Amongst the telegrams that are present in the Ottoman
Archive, even though from time to time one comes across telegrams that were
sent during the same time as the Naim-Andonian telegrams, it is seen that (both
in terms of the telegram filing numbers and their contents) these two sets of
telegrams are completely different from one another. 

According to Akçam, Orel and Yuca are wrong with their assertions on this
subject. According to Akçam, Ottoman Minister of the Interior had had
installed a telegram machine in his own house, and from time to time
communicated with governors through it and sent telegrams to provinces from
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his house. Again, according to Akçam, it is impossible to know what kind of
filing numbering was used in these telegrams that were sent from the house of
the Minister of the Interior.21 Therefore, according to Akçam, the incongruence
exhibited by the Naim-Andonian documents’ filing numbers with that of the
archive documents is not a proof for the Naim-Andonian documents being
forgeries.

First of all, again showing no evidence, Akçam makes the assumption that all
Naim-Andonian documents were sent from the house of Minister of the Interior
Talat Bey. Both in the explanations made by Andonian about the documents,
and in the text of the “memoirs” that Andonian alleges belong to the Naim
Efendi, there is simply no indication that the telegrams were sent from the
Minister of the Interior’s house. On the contrary, it is clearly indicated that
these documents were sent from the Ministry of the Interior. Additionally, it is
clearly (without leaving room for doubt) indicated in the Naim-Andonian
documents that the telegrams from Aleppo to the center were sent to the Office
of the Ministry of the Interior (Tr. Dâhiliye Nezareti Celilesine), and they give
no space to personal remarks such as “Addressed to Minister of the Interior
Talat Bey” (Tr. Dâhiliye Nazırı Talat Beyefendi’ye). 

In such circumstances, the argument about the aforementioned
correspondences having been carried out from Talat Bey’s house comes across
as being a contrived interpretation.  

Additionally, the inconsistency regarding the filing numbers given to the
telegrams are not solely present for the ones alleged to have been sent from
the Ministry of the Interior to the Aleppo Province. The same inconsistency is
also present in the telegrams alleged to have been sent from Aleppo to the
center, meaning the Ministry of the Interior. Contained amongst the Naim-
Andonian documents, the telegram attributed to Adbülahad Nuri Bey numbered
76 and dated 7 March 1332 (20 March 1916) is the most striking example.
According to the Rumi Calendar used by the administrative system of the
Ottoman State, the new year starts at 1 March 1332 (14 March 1916).
According to this, for the telegram attributed to Adbülahad Nuri Bey to be
numbered 76, he would have had to send 76 ciphered telegrams to İstanbul
between the dates 1-7 March 1332 (14-20 March 1916), meaning in just seven
days.22 In this respect, the inconsistency about the numbering in the Naim-
Andonian telegrams is revealed to be present for both the telegrams sent from
Ministry of the Interior to Aleppo, and the ones sent from Aleppo to the center.
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In the section of his book touching upon this subject, Akçam has overlooked
this as well and does not provide any explanation. 

Similarity with Ottoman Documents

An important section of Akçam’s book has also been allocated to his efforts to
prove the presence of similarities between the memoirs alleged to have
belonged to Naim Efendi and the Ottoman Archive documents. In this respect,
the author gives ten different examples in order to showcase the argument that

there are great similarities between what is being
told in the memoirs of Naim Efendi and the
events that transpired according to the Ottoman
Archive documents. For this reason, the author
arrives at the conclusion that the Memoirs and
the Documents must be true. It is not possible
to reach a judgment on the veracity of Akçam’s
arguments without examining one by one the
documents Akçam gives as examples. However,
even if we were to accept that all his allegations
are true, the similarity between the Ottoman
Archive documents and the Naim-Andonian
materials is not a proof for the authenticity of
these documents. If the person producing the
forged documents is above a certain level of
intelligence, that person will anyhow attempt to

make the documents and the memoirs resemble real events. 

Hence, concerning another forged document prepared for the Armenian
Question and generally known as the “Ten Commandments”, Canadian
historian Gwynne Dyer has likened it to a document construction effort that
would be congruent with events that had already transpired.23

In a similar way, as drawn attention to by Dutch historian Erik Jan Zürcher as
well, it should come as no surprise that the contents of forged document
resemble and coheres with actual events. According to Zürcher, if some
members of the bureaucracy are to produce forged documents in order to earn
money, they would put the effort to make the contents of forged documents
resemble actual events as much as possible.24
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Examples similar to this are not confined to the Armenian Question. To give
the impression of being authentic, it is not unusual for forged documents
produced for various topics to contain a certain amount of true information
about actual events and people. The most striking example for this is the so-
called “Hitler Diaries” that created quite a sensation in the 1980s. In the diaries,
Hitler’s various speeches, notes, and meetings are contained in a way that is
similar to the actual ones. Moreover, the said forged diaries give place to texts
of certain works or newspaper pieces about Hitler exactly as they appeared in
those works and pieces. This was enough to mislead some historians; taking
into account all the similarities, the details, and the variety of the materials,
some historians such as Hugh Trevor-Roper and Gerhard Weinberg in the
beginning expressed the view that these diaries were authentic. However, at
the end of the examination conducted by German forensic experts, it was
revealed that the “Hitler Diaries” were fake and that certain ingredients of the
diaries such as the papers, bindings, adhesives etc. were not yet in use during
the period when Hitler lived.25

If the verification logic employed by Akçam for the Naim-Andonian
documents were to be applied to the “Hitler Diaries”, it would result in the
bizarre and erroneous conclusion that the fake diaries are real. This is so
because, under Akçam’s logic, the text contained in the diaries being verified
by the exact same texts in other sources would point to the authenticity of the
diaries. As indicated above however, as a result of the examination of German
forensic experts, it has been revealed -leaving no room for doubt- that the
diaries are fake. It is therefore clearly revealed that forged documents relaying
information close to the truth about topics concerning some actual events,
speeches etc. does not directly mean that such documents are authentic. 

What is essentially needed, concerning the dispute of whether or not the
documents are authentic, is not explaining the similarities, but explaining the
inconsistencies. In the dispute over the Hitler diaries, historians, while drawing
attention to the similarities they have with actual speeches and some sources
written about Hitler, come to the conclusion that the diaries are fake by pointing
to a series of contradictions and rather absurd errors within the diaries.26

Akçam’s work is essentially quite weak on this point. Below, a more balanced
picture will be drawn for the readers by examining the points ignored by
Akçam. 
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The Points Ignored by Akçam

Akçam remains completely silent on subjects for which no explanation can be
given: the chronological discrepancies of the Naim-Andonian documents, the
signature attributed to the Governor of Aleppo being different from the actual
one that is contained in the Ottoman Archive, Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey’s
signing of some documents with the title “Governor” before he had actually
been appointed as a governor, and also both Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey’in and
Abdülahad Nuri Bey adding notes to the documents and signing them during

dates when they were still in İstanbul
and had not yet reached Aleppo. A
similar situation is present for the
letters attributed to Bahaettin Şakir
Bey, which were allegedly sent from
İstanbul to Adana in February and
March 1915, despite the fact that in the
said dates he was not in İstanbul but in
Erzurum. Additionally, while the
Ottoman Archive documents used by
Akçam as examples are all written on
papers bearing official inscriptions, the
papers on which Naim-Andonian
documents are written do not, which
has been completely ignored by
Akçam.

It must be underlined that the
signatures attributed to the Governor of
Aleppo Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey
occupy a special place in the dispute

over whether or not the documents are authentic. This subject will be touched
upon in more detail below. Before moving forward to this subject however, it
must be indicated that there are errors and inconsistencies in the Naim-
Andonian document that are ignored and never mentioned by Akçam. 

All the telegrams belonging to the Ottoman Archive used by Akçam as
reference (he provides facsimiles for some of these telegrams) have been
written on letterheads bearing official inscriptions.27 However, the telegrams
and documents in the Naim-Andonian documents are different in this respect.
Some of them have been written on blank papers bearing no official inscription
whatsoever and which are different from the ones used by the Ottoman
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bureaucracy. Akçam makes no comment on and remains silent about this
blatant inconsistency between the papers on which the Ottoman Archive
documents and the papers on which the Naim-Andonian documents are written. 

Again, in Akçam’s book, the cipher number groups used in all the ciphered
telegram texts are constituted of the same amount of digits. For example, in a
telegram using four digit ciphers, all number groups are four digits and number
groups with different amount of digits are not used in the text. The same is true
for telegrams using two, three, and five digit numbers, and number groups with
different amount of digits were not confused with each other within the
telegrams. 

As previously indicated, however, in the telegrams of the Naim-Andonian
Documents, both two digit and three digit numbers are used in a mixed manner
within the same telegram texts. As explained above, this is quite ill-advised in
terms of ciphering techniques because it will require two different cipher keys
for the telegrams to be solved and create great complications and
pointlessness.28 This clear inconsistency between the Ottoman Archive
documents and the Naim-Andonian documents is yet again ignored by Akçam
throughout his book and this problem is thus evaded with silence.

The inconsistencies in the Naim-Andonian documents are not limited to this.
In the said documents, a telegram is sent on 3 September 1331 (16 September
1915) by Minister of the Interior Talat Bey to the Governor of Aleppo, and on
5 September 1331 (18 September 1915) Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey writes some
notes on the telegram paper and puts his signature underneath it as the
Governor.29 Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey addresses Abdülahad Nuri Bey as he
writes the said notes. However, in the dates during which those telegrams were
sent, the notes were written, and the signature was put, the Governor of Aleppo
was Bekir Sami Bey, not “Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey”.30 Mustafa Abdülhalik
Bey was only appointed as the Governor of Aleppo by 10 October 1915. This
means that if the documents were actually authentic, it should have been Bekir
Sami Bey, and not Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey, who signed the telegram sent on
16 September 1915. Also, despite the note dated 18 September 1915 having
been written to address Abdülahad Nuri Bey, Abdülahad Nuri Bey had not yet
been appointed to his position in Aleppo by that date. According to the Ottoman
Archive records, in a telegram he sent on 14 October 1915, Minister of the
Interior Talat Bey mentions to Director of Settlement for Tribes and Migrants
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(Tr. İskân-ı Aşairin ve Muhacirin Müdürü) Şükrü Bey about Abdülahad Nuri
Bey being considered for appointment to Aleppo and asks Şükrü Bey about
his thoughts on Abdülahad Nuri Bey.31 In other words, as of the date of 14
October 1915, Abdülahad Nuri Bey had not yet been appointed to his position
in Aleppo, and the decision process about him had been still ongoing, and other
bureaucrats had been asked about their opinions on him. 

Thus, in this so-called document, there is a correspondence between a governor
and a civil servant, both of whom had not yet been appointed to their posts.
This chronological inconsistency regarding the posts and the terms of office
of these individuals is one of the serious evidences that prove these documents
being fake. However, Akçam never touches upon this issue and in fact remains
silent with regard to these inconsistencies throughout his book. 

As indicated above, Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey was only appointed as Governor
to Aleppo by 10 October 1915. Therefore, it can be argued that the signatures
attributed to Governor of Aleppo Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey in the Naim-
Andonian documents after 10 October 1915 (27 September 1331) are rather
less suspicious. There is another document in Naim-Andonian documents sent
from the Ministry of the Interior in 29 September 1331 (12 October 1915).
Similarly, four days after this telegram on 3 October (Teşrin-i Evvel) 1331 (16
October 1915), Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey seemingly noted down his name as
Governor of Aleppo and signed the document.32 Therefore, since Mustafa
Abdulhalik Bey was appointed as Governor six days before this telegram, this
document seems comparably less suspicious. 

On the other hand, when one looks at the Ottoman Archive registries, although
Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey was appointed as Governor on 10 October 1915, it
can be seen that he was in İstanbul until 1 November 1915, and that he only
arrived to Aleppo on 8 November 1915. The same applies to Abdülahad Nuri
Bey as well. Newly appointed Governor of Aleppo Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey
and Abdülahad Nuri Bey left İstanbul together for Aleppo on Monday, 1
November.33 A telegram stating that the two officials would arrive to Aleppo
on 8 November was sent to İstanbul.34 Thus, it is impossible for Mustafa
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Abdulhalik Bey and Abdülahad Nuri Bey to have written down notes or to
have signed documents in Aleppo as of September and October 1915. This is
so because they had arrived to Aleppo only by 8 November. This is another
serious evidence that the documents are fake. 

One part of Akçam’s book is also dedicated to Naim Bey’s place and term in
office. In this chapter, Akçam touches upon the Ottoman documents that we
present above on when Governor of Aleppo Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey and
Abdülahad Nuri Bey were going to leave for Aleppo. These documents clearly
prove that Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey and Abdülahad Nuri Bey were not in
Aleppo and did not assume their posts before 7 November 1915. Based on this
information highlighting the fact that the Naim-Andonian documents are fake,
Akçam again remains silent and completely ignores the inconsistency between
the Ottoman Archive Documents and the Naim-Andondan Documents. 

The same inconsistency can be found in a letter attributed to Bahaettin Şakir
Bey and which was supposedly sent by the Union and Progress Central
Committee (Tr. İttihat-Terakki Merkez Komitesi) to the party’s Adana delegate
Cemal Bey on 2 March 1915.35 On the date in which the letter was sent,
Bahaettin Şakir Bey was not in İstanbul but in Erzurum, and remained in
Erzurum until 13 March 1915.36 Thus, this is another indication that the Naim-
Andonian documents are fake. 

On What Basis Did Aram Andonian Argue For The Authenticity Of The
Documents?  

Andonian based his claim about the authenticity of the documents that he
claimed were given to him by Naim Bey on the signature of Governor of
Aleppo Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey. According to Andonian, after Naim Bey gave
the documents to him, the documents were analyzed for their authenticity.
Andonian stated that the signatures on the documents attributed to Mustafa
Abdulhalik Bey were compared with Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey’s signature
documents that belonged to him, and it was concluded that the signatures
belonged to the Governor: 

There is no doubt that these documents were taken out of the files of the
Assistant Directorship of the Deportation Office in Aleppo. The
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Governor of Aleppo, after having had the orders he received from the
Minister of the Interior (Talât Pasha) concerning the Armenians
deciphered, appended a note with his signature to them in which he
referred them for implementation to the Assistant Directorship of the
Deportation Office where Naim Bey was a secretary.

When Naim Bey agreed to provide us with these documents, the Aleppo
Armenian National Union, which was an official organization, had the
handwriting and signatures (appended to the documents in question),
examined. This examination lasted exactly one week. Other documents
to which the Governor Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey had appended notes and
his signature were examined, and even the smallest details were
subjected to comparison. Finally, it was determined without any
possibility of doubt that the handwriting and signature in the notes added
to the documents belonged to the Governor Mustafa Abdülahlik Bey.
This erased even the slightest suspicion as to the authenticity of the
documents…37

As it can be clearly seen from this excerpt from a letter by Andonian, the main
basis for the authenticity of the documents in question is the assumption that
the signature on the documents attributed to Mustafa Abdukhalik Bey is
genuine. However, a comparison of the genuine signatures that can be found
in two letters from the Ottoman Archive that belong to Governor of Aleppo
Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey with those in the Naim-Andonian documents reveal
that the two groups of signatures are completely different. The said signatures
are compared in the below chart. 
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Table 1 – Two sample signatures that are attributed to Mustafa Abdulhalik
Bey in the Naim-Andonian Documents and two original signatures from
the letters in the Ottoman Archives 

In Table 1, sample number 1 and 2 are the signatures from Naim-Andonian
documents attributed to Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey. Throughout the book, all the
signatures attributed to Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey are exactly the same as these
two fake signatures. However, taking into account Mustafa Abdulhalik Bey’s
genuine signatures in sample number 3 and 4 that are taken from two letters
dated 21 December 1915 and 7 February 1916 in the Ottoman Archive, it will
clearly be seen that the signatures in the Naim-Andonian documents are
undoubtedly fake. Therefore, it is revealed that Andonian’s most basic claim
to prove the documents are authentic is in fact baseless and that the documents
are indeed fake. Akçam again brushes aside this issue and provides no
explanation for it.

153Review of Armenian Studies
No. 34, 2016



Ömer Engin Lütem

Conclusion

As the detailed analysis given above shows, Akçam’s arguments on Naim-
Andonian documents are based on the oversimplification and furthermore
distortion of Orel and Yuca’s previous findings. In order to bring credibility to
his claims, Akçam presents Orel and Yuca’s findings in a distorted manner and
ignores these writers’ most basic objections. Akçam, who then answers the
objections presented in an oversimplified and distorted manner, attempts to

prove the authenticity of the Naim-
Andonian documents by resorting to
various manipulations. However, as has
already been showed, while listing his
allegations, he bases his arguments on
serious logical errors and obvious
distortions. Apart from these, in his book,
Akçam remains completely silent on issues
for which no explanation can be given, such
as: the chronological discrepancies in the
Naim-Andonian documents, the signature
attributed to Governor of Aleppo being
different from the genuine signature of the
Governor contained in the Ottoman
Archive, Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey’s signing
of some documents with the title
“Governor” before he had actually been
appointed as a governor, and also both
Mustafa Abdülhalik Bey’in and Abdülahad
Nuri Bey adding notes to the documents
and signing them during dates when they
were still in İstanbul and had not yet

reached Aleppo. Unable to present credible evidence to explain the
inconsistencies and discrepancies of the Naim-Andonian documents, Akçam
begins from various assumptions that he most of the time does not provide any
evidence for to prove that the documents are authentic.

On top of this, Akçam does not present convincing explanations for the most
basic objections (fake signatures, the type of paper used by the Ottoman
bureaucracy, chronological discrepancies etc.) directed by Orel and Yuca
towards the Naim-Andonian documents and ignores many of these objections.
For these reasons, it becomes apparent that Akçam’s book cannot be treated as
a credible source in the discussion concerning the authenticity of the Naim-
Andonian documents.  
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Le mouvement kurde de Turquie en exil: continuités et discontinuités
du nationalisme kurde sous le mandat français en Syrie et au Liban
(1925-1946) (En. The Kurdish Movement of Turkey in Exile:

Continuities and Discontinuities in Kurdish Nationalism during the French
Mandate in Syria and Lebanon (1925-1946)), written by historian and
sociologist Jordis Tejel Gorgas, was published in 2007. In the book, the
author analyzes the ties between Khoyboun Union, an organization with
Kurdish ethnic nationalist ideology that was active in Syria and Lebanon
under the French Mandate, and the Armenian Dashnak Party between the
years 1925 and 1946.
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As Jordis Tejel Gorgas mentions in his book, the Kurdish ethnic nationalist
Khoyboun Union was established in Bhamdoun, Lebanon, on 29 October 1927,
with the aim of uniting all Kurds under a single roof regardless of their religion,
language, or social status. The most distinctive feature of Khoyboun was the
importance it attached to diplomatic relations with various countries (Iran,
France, United Kingdom, Italy, and the Soviet Union) and foreign
organizations such as the Dashnak Party. Although it would be a far-fetched
claim to say that this Kurdish organization originated from an Armenian
initiative, due to its close relations with the Dashnak Party, the Khoyboun
Union is presented as being the result of the efforts of Armenian groups.1

Gorgas, through the sources he provides, confirms that the meetings between
nationalist Kurdish and Armenian groups began in 1926 in Marseille with the
initiative of the Dashnak Party. The symbol of this closeness and the one who
acted virtually as a bridge between the two organizations was Vahan Papazian,
a Dashnak Party official who was a former deputy of Van in the Ottoman
Empire. Papazian attended the founding congress of the Khoyboun Union and
later took part in the cadres of the organization. Later Khoyboun congresses
also saw participations from the Dashnak Party. Together with Papazian, a
leading Dashnak Party member Ador Levonian also participated in the congress
that took place on 29 March 1928 in Aleppo.2 It should be indicated that the
names of Dashnak Party members, such as Rıfat Menlazande and also Vahan
Papazian, have been frequently mentioned among the cadres of the Khoyboun
Union.

How does Gorgas explain the rapprochement between the Dashnak and the
Khoyboun organizations?

According to the author, the main aim of the cooperation between the two
organizations was to establish a Kurdish-Armenian confederation in Southeast
Turkey via an insurrection in 1927. The preparations for this cooperation
between the two organizations had begun in the 1920s. The nationalist Kurdish
historical narrative denies the Kurdish responsibility for the massacres the
Armenians were subjected to, and shifts the blame on the Ottoman government
and the Turks. The massacres in 1894, 1895, 1915, and 1916 against the
Armenians have become a taboo in the nationalist Kurdish historical narrative,
and this narrative that puts the blame on others has become unquestionable.
Meanwhile, the Dashnak Party, which always held the Turks responsible for
everything negative that has happened to Armenians, has facilitated this process
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and propagated that while the Turks were “Christian-killers” and “barbarians”,
the Kurds were “victimized” and “civilized” people.3

According to the sources pointed out by Gorgas, via an agreement signed
between the Dashnak and the Khoyboun organizations in 1927, the Dashnak
Party informed the Khoyboun Union that it would provide monetary assistance
to support the insurrection to be launched at Ağrı Mountain. Vahan Papazian
was involved in significant efforts within the context of the cooperation between
the two organizations. During the first days of cooperation between the
organizations, Papazian provided a monetary assistance of about 20,000 dollars
(a serious amount considering the inflation throughout the years),4 and ensured
additional significant amounts of money from the Italian government to support
the publication of nationalist Kurdish journals. Again, through Papazian, the
American Armenian Red Cross Society provided an aid of 7,000 dollars to
Khoyboun Union.5 Furthermore, Papazian promised that further monetary aid
from many governments would be available if nationalist Kurdish leaders and
intellectuals put an end to their disagreements. Papazian was also active in
France. Upon a call from Şerif Pasha, the Khoyboun representative in France,
Papazian sent an amount of 500,000 franks that had he collected from wealthy
Armenians in Nice for the provision of arms and ammunition for the Kurds.6

Papazian, who was blamed for the murder of Hunchak Party member Sarkis
Kaderian Dikhrouni in 1929, with all the things he had done up until then, had
shown how important he was for the cooperation between the Khoyboun and
the Dashnak organizations. Following Papazian’s arrest, no money transfer took
place between the two organizations for a couple of months.

In the book, besides the monetary aid given by the Dashnak Party to the
Khoyboun Union, Gorgas also mentions the features of the military cooperation
between the two organizations. The Dashnak Party requested Armenians living
in Europe and the US to support the “Kurdish-Armenian cause”. Within this
context, in 1930, the Dashnak organizaion located in US provided the
Khoyboun Union with 125,000 rifles, 4 million bullets, and 50,000 grenades.
The transfer of these arms and ammunitions was done through the Persian Gulf
in a period of three months. Furthermore, the French branch of the Dashnak
organization sent 30,000 rifles via small Greek cargo ships.7
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Due to the ending of the 1936 agreement foreseeing the withdrawal of the
French from Syria with the establishment of the Vichy regime, as well as the
agreement between Turkey, Britain, and France, nationalist Kurdish groups
started to approach Germany.

According to British Major Elphinstone’s report, which is presented in Gorgas’
book, German officials contacted Kurdish groups at the beginning of the war.
German officials offered Kurds to follow the policy of the Axis Powers,
underlining that the Kurds would not benefit from an alliance with the Allied
Powers due to Turks being allied with the French and the British. With the
surrender of France to Germany, the German Commission in Syria, presided
over by W.O. von Hentig, contacted Khalil ibn Ibrahim Pasha, who was a
Syrian deputy and a close friend of Baron Max Oppenheim, and requested a
new alliance between Kurds and Armenians.8 Within this context, at clandestine
gatherings with the Kurdish and Armenian nationalists, von Hentig and Rudolf
A. Roser requested them to incite riots and revolts in Turkey. In return, if
Germany emerged victorious in the war, the German Commission promised
that Germany would assure the “independence of Kurdistan and Armenia”.
According to the P. de Rudden, the head of the German mission in Al-Jazira,
for the Kurds and Bedouins, the Allied powers represented Christianity, while
the Nazis represented irreligiosity. In this regard, according to de Rudden, the
Nazis were the most suitable ally against the common enemy, the Christians.9

Meanwhile, for the oriental elites, Nazism was the ideal form of nationalism,
therefore, a political model that should be achieved.

No official agreements between nationalist Kurds and Germans has been found.
However, according to French intelligence, nationalist Kurdish  and Armenian
representatives such as Djeladet Bekir Khan and Hratch Papazian came to
terms with the Germans and planned to incite revolts in Turkey in 1942.10

While the sources presented in the book confirms the authenticity of these
information, they also indicate that it was verified by the French intelligence
that the Germans made contacts with Şerif Pasha who was in France at the
time.11

The Dashnak Party also tried to get support from Iran in order to carry out the
insurrection in Ağrı Mountain. Within this context, in order to avoid damaging
possible “diplomatic” relations with Iran, the Dashnak Party and the Khoyboun
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Union took the decision to not act against Iran.12 Iran, which sought to avoid
any direct confrontation with Turkey, stipulated conditions to the Khoyboun
Union. With the support of the Dashnak organization members in Iran, Djelabet
Bekir Khan traveled to Tehran to establish contacts with Iran. Nationalist Kurds
and Armenians, as part of their “Aryan Race”13 principle, tried to recruit Iran
to their cause.

Gorgas states that the idea that Kurds and Armenians descended from the
“Aryan Race” had been addressed in the past.14 However, the intention or idea
to establish a political union between the two groups as part of a common
ideology was a first in history. The end goal of these efforts was to ensure the
founding of an “Aryan Confederation” consisting of Kurds and Armenians.
Iran was offered to lead and protect this union. However, this project was never
made official; Iranian officials told Djeladet Bekir Khan that this project was
“interesting, but unrealistic”.15 The strategic aim of this association between
the Dashnak Pary and the Khoyboun Union was to provide the insurrectionists
in Ağrı Mountain with the support of an influential foreign state. In any case,
Iran, which deemed an Aryan Confederation that included Iran as unrealistic,
allowed members of the Dashnak Party and the Khoyboun Union to establish
contacts with the insurrectionists in Ağrı Mountain. Iran’s relations with Turkey
was harmed due to Iran sending representatives to Ağrı Mountain until the
1930s. According to Nader Entessar, in that period, the Shah of Iran used the
“Kurdish card” to put pressure on the Turkish government in its border issues
with Turkey.

As stated by Gorgas, although ties between the Dashnak Party and the
Khoyboun Union was later broken off, both sides continued to argue that they
descended from the “Aryan Race”. In the Khoyboun Union, the Bedir Khan
Brothers propagated in the brochures of the organization that, unlike “the
Mongol or the Tatar Turks”, the Kurds were “Aryan”.16 In parallel with this, in
the Dashnak Party, Roupen Ter Minassian defended the “Aryan Union”
principle and the “Kurdish cause” in the party’s official journal.17
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Today, despite tensions between them, Kurdish ethnic nationalist movements
and several Armenian groups that demand reparations and territories from
Turkey, seeing Turkey as a common enemy, have formed an alliance of sorts.
Trying to put aside past conflicts and the blood spilt between Armenians and
Kurds, and trying to blame Turks for all past negative events, these groups seek
to find ways to act together against Turkey. The importance of Jordis Tejel
Gorgas’ book manifests itself at this juncture: the book concretely puts down
the fact that a similar alliance had already formed and was active in the early
period of the Republic of Turkey.
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